1980

Wells Fargo Armored Service Corporation v. Public Service Commission of Utah, Milly O. Bernard, Chairman, David R. Irvine, and Kenneth Rigtrup, Commissioners of the Public Service Commission of Utah, and Brinks, Inc : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petition of respondent, Brinks, Inc., (herein-
after referred to as Brinks) for a Certificate of Exemption
from regulation by the Public Service Commission.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER TRIBUNAL

The Public Service Commission (hereinafter
referred to as the "Commission") granted respondent's
Petition for Exemption.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant asks the Court to reverse and set
aside the order of the Commission.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

There are no disputed facts involved.

Procedurally, defendant Brinks, Inc. filed an application for a "certificate of exemption" with the Public Service Commission based upon its contention that Section 54-6-12(f) Utah Code Annotated, as amended, entitled it to statewide exemption from the provisions of the Motor Vehicle Transportation Act except for the requirements of insurance, safety regulations and accident reports. On January 25, 1979, plaintiff filed a motion to dismiss the application for exemption contending that Section 54-6-12(f) exempted vehicles when constructed as armored cars and used for the safe conveyance or delivery of money or other valuables only when such vehicles were operating within a 15 mile radius of the limits of any city or town.

Argument was had upon the application and the motion and on October 31, 1979, the Commission issued its report and order granting statewide exemption to applicant Brinks. It is that report and order which is the subject of this appeal.

The single issue raised in this appeal is the proper construction of Section 54-6-12(f) Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended. The question specifically is whether the exemption contained in that section as it relates to armored cars is limited to operations within

a 15 mile radius of the limits of any city or town or whether the exemption is statewide.

ARGUMENT

I

PROPER CONSTRUCTION OF SECTION 54-6-12(f), LIMITS THE EXEMPTION TO MOTOR VEHICLES WHEN CONSTRUCTED AS ARMORED CARS AND USED FOR THE SAFE CONVEYANCE OR DELIVERY OF MONEY OR OTHER VALUABLES TO A 15 MILE RADIUS OF THE LIMITS OF ANY CITY OR TOWN.

As indicated in the Order of the Commission, appellant, Wells Fargo, applied for, and received from the Commission, a Certificate of Convenience and Necessity authorizing it to operate as a common motor carrier transporting money and other articles of extraordinary value in armored cars between all points and places in the State of Utah (Report and Order Case No. 6258 Sub 1, In the Matter of the Application of Wells Fargo Armored Service Corporation for a Certificate of Convenience and Necessity to operate as a common motor carrier of property in intrastate commerce, P.S.C. Utah, November 7, 1974).

Up until January of 1979 Brinks had been operating an armored car service within 15 miles of Salt Lake City without authority from the Commission relying upon the 15 mile exemption in 54-6-12(f).

Section 54-6-12 U.C.A. provides in part:

"54-6-12. Exceptions from provisions of act--Public liability and property damage policies-- Rules and regulations--Supervision of carriers excepted.-- Except for the provisions of 54-6-17 relative to requirements of insurance, 54-6-21, relative to safety regulations, and 54-6-22 relative to accident report no portion of this act shall apply:

. . (f) To motor vehicles when especially constructed for towing, wrecking, maintenance, or repair purposes, and not otherwise used in transporting goods and merchandise for compensation; or when constructed as armored cars and used for the safe conveyance or delivery of money or other valuables, or when used as hearses, ambulances, or licensed taxicabs, operating within a fifteen mile radius of the limits of any city or town; or to motor vehicles used as ambulances or hearses by any person, firm or corporation duly licensed in the state as an embalmer, funeral director, or as a mortuary establishment, provided that use of such motor vehicles as an ambulance shall be incidental to the use of embalming or funeral directing. [;or]"

Rather than file an application for a Certificate of Convenience and Necessity in accordance with the provisions of Section 54-6-5 Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended, as did the appellant, Brinks opted to file an application for exemption from regulation as heretofore indicated. The granting

of the certificate of exemption to Brinks, put it, for the first time, in direct competition with Wells Fargo in its statewide operations pursuant to its Certificate of Convenience and Necessity No. 1710. We respectfully submit that the armored car exemption in Section 54-6-12(f) is limited to the fifteen mile radius of any city or town as therein stated and that Section 54-6-5 U.C.A. sets forth the exclusive method of obtaining a Certificate of Convenience and Necessity, namely, by filing an application therefor and proving that public convenience and necessity require the operation proposed.

Section 54-6-4 U.C.A. gives the Commission the power and the duty to supervise and regulate all common motor carriers. In Milne Truck Lines, Inc. v. Public Service Commission, 13 U.2d 72, 368 P.2d 590 (1962) this Court stated:

"The Commission is required by statute to regulate so as to prevent unnecessary duplication of services in areas where the existing transportation service adequately meets the needs of the public." (Citing Section 54-6-4 U.C.A. 1953, as amended).

See also Rio Grande Motor Way, Inc. v. Public Service Commission of Utah, 572 P.2d 1368 (1977) in which case Rio Grande Motor Way, Inc. attempted to obtain authority under the theory of an "alternate route" or a "route deviation" rather than by an application pursuant to Section 54-6-5 U.C.A.

In that case this Court stated:

"It is our opinion that if Uintah Freightways is to be granted the authority to haul freight directly from Salt Lake City to Price, it should be done in a forthright manner and by compliance with the requirements of U.C.A. 1953, Section 54-6-5, rather than to permit it to acquire such authority by the back-door method here employed. In view of the failure to so comply with the law, the order of the Commission granting such authority is vacated."

Section 54-6-12(f) sets forth exemptions which are in derogation of the duty of the Commission to regulate as set forth in Section 54-6-4, supra. In Norville v. State Tax Commissioner, 98 Utah 170, 97 P.2d 937 (1940) this Court held that statutes exempting taxpayers from a general taxing statute, being in derogation of the taxing power, are constrictly construed against those seeking to escape the tax burden. That theory is most applicable here.

The Commission arrived at its conclusion that the exemption under consideration was statewide

by application of the so-called "last antecedent" rule of statutory construction. The Commission and the respondent, Brinks, overlooked the fact that by applying the "last antecedent" rule in the instant situation, the 15 mile radius restriction would operate only to taxi cabs since "taxi cabs" is the last antecedent. However, the rationale of Brinks and the Commission clearly indicate that they concede that the limitation applies not only to taxi cabs but also to hearses and ambulances. Such a concession is necessary in applying the rule since the legislature has so construed the exemption. In 1951 the legislature added the last full phrase to paragraph (f) removing the 15 mile limitation from hearses and ambulances that are used incidental to the business of embalming or funeral directing. Obviously, the legislature was aware that the 15 mile radius at least applied to hearses and ambulances as well as to taxi cabs. Had it intended to remove the 15 mile limitation from armored cars, certainly that was the time to do so. Section 54-6-12 U.C.A. 1953 was enacted in 1935 and except for the amendment just described in 1951, sub section (f) has been intact to the present date.

The Commission adopted the respondent Brinks'

argument that transportation of passengers and dead bodies somehow has an inherent difference, from a regulatory standpoint, than the transportation of money or other valuables for financial institutions. We respectfully submit that there is no rational basis whatever for such a conclusion. The Commission is charged with the regulation of all common carriers in the transportation of passengers and property. The Commission states, in its Order:

"Further, as pointed out by applicant in its Memorandum, the potential customers for applicant's specialized service are financial institutions in a strong bargaining position, vis-a-vis applicant. The need for regulation by this Commission would, accordingly, appear to be minimal. Regarding ambulances, hearses, and taxi cabs, the rationale for exemption would be that they frequently are the subject of regulation by local jurisdictions. The fifteen mile radius limitation thus makes more sense in their case than it would in the case of the armored car service."
(Emphasis added)

We fail to find any justification for this conclusion. The Commission has historically, on a regular basis, exercised its power and discharged its duty to regulate the transportation of all kinds of property. We fail to see any basis for the conclusion that there is a "minimal" need for regulation of motor vehicles used for the transportation, safe conveyance and delivery

of money or other valuables. On the contrary, it can be argued that carriers transporting such commodities need more, not less, regulation than those carriers transporting less valuable commodities.

In the case of Realty Purchasing Company v. Public Service Commission, 9 U.2d 375, 345 P.2d 606 (1959) the Court tacitly approved the grouping of the vehicles in paragraph (f) as all being limited to the 15 mile radius. The Court quoted from the statute as follows:

"(f) * * * [wreckers] * * * [armored cars]
* * * hearses, ambulances, or licensed taxi
cabs, operating within a fifteen-mile
radius of the limits of any city or town. * * *"
(Emphasis added)

Although the exact question of the application of the fifteen mile limitation was not in issue, the quotation of the statute as including wreckers and armored cars being subject to the 15 mile radius does indicate the Court's approval of such construction.

In the case of Salt Lake City v. Salt Lake County, 568 P.2d 738 (1977), the Court dealt with the "last antecedent" rule which applicant urges in support of its position. The Court refused to apply the rule in that particular case for the reason that strict application would have subverted the intent of the Legislature.

The Court stated on Page 741:

"We have no doubt of the correctness of that rule of construction as a generality, if applied in appropriate circumstances. But helpful as rules of construction often are, they are useful guides, but poor masters; and they should not be regarded as having any such rigidity as to have the force of law, or distort an otherwise natural meaning or intent. Their only legitimate function is to assist in ascertaining the true intent and purpose of the statute."

The Court further recognizes the value in statutory construction of considering the fact that a statute has existed without change for a long time.

On Page 741, the Court stated:

"Nevertheless, we further observe that the correctness of the trial court's decision also finds support in this additional proposition that in case of any uncertainty or ambiguity in a statute, a reasonable administrative interpretation and practice should be given some weight. And this is particularly true when such an administrative interpretation and practice has persisted for a long time without any legislative correction or change."

Application of the "last antecedent" rule is improper here by reason of the punctuation employed by the Legislature. Not only did they fail to use a semi colon after the words "or other valuables" which would have clearly evidenced an intent to exclude armored cars from the limitation, but they employed the use of a comma after "taxi cabs" which shows an intent to relate the limitation to all preceding phrases. See

73 Am. Jur. 2d Sec. 231, P. 415 where it is stated:

"The presence of a comma separating a modifying clause in a statute from the clause immediately preceding, is an indication that the modifying clause was intended to modify all the preceding clauses and not only the last antecedent one."

In the case of Rio Grande Motor Way, Inc. v. Public Service Commission, 21 Utah 2d 377, 445 P.2d 990 (1968) the Court expresses the value of statutory construction which allows the general purpose of the statute to be preserved without being changed by technical rules of statutory construction. The Court stated with respect to the rule of "expressio unius est exclusio alterius" which was urged upon it:

"It has no force of law; and it has no proper application when its effect would be to obstruct rather than to carry out the purpose of the statute. It has been aptly said that it is 'a valuable servant, but a dangerous master.'"

We respectfully submit that the proper interpretation of the statute is aptly and succinctly set forth by former Commissioner Kenneth Rigtrup in his dissent and we quote it in full:

"I respectfully dissent:

Had the Legislature intended the construction of Section 54-6-12(f), Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as

arrived at by the majority of the Commission and as proposed by Applicant, such intention could have been made clear with the simple utilization of a semicolon in the following portion of subsection (f):

' . . . or when constructed as armored cars and used for the safe conveyance or delivery of money or other valuables; or when used as hearses, ambulances, or licensed taxi cabs, operating within a fifteen mile radius of the limits of any city or town; . . . ' (Emphasis added)

Without the use of such a semicolon, it appears to me that the statutory provision in question is extremely unclear and is susceptible of more than one interpretation. Given the vagueness and ambiguity involved, I would prefer not having to rely on a rule of construction to arrive at the appropriate result.

In my view, reliance on and consistent application of a prior Commission interpretation of an unclear and ambiguous statute, assuming a rational basis therefor, provides a sounder basis for statutory construction than that relied on in this case. On April 5, 1974, Wells Fargo Armored Service Corporation applied to this Commission for a certificate of convenience and necessity to operate as a common carrier for the transportation of money and other valuables in armored cars between all points and places in the State of Utah. Wells Fargo specifically acknowledged it had applied for

a certificate because it was unclear from the subject statute whether the fifteen mile limitation applied to armored cars, but did so 'in an abundance of caution to assure that future operations were strictly in accordance with the provision of the Utah Motor Carrier Act.' On November 7, 1974, in Case No. 6258 Sub 1, the Commission issued Certificate of Convenience and Necessity No. 1710 Sub 1, thus assuming jurisdictional regulatory responsibility over an armored motor carrier operating beyond a fifteen mile radius of a city or town. To conclude that the prior Commission did not weigh and consider whether its jurisdiction was properly invoked in the Wells Fargo case wherein the subject statute was specifically raised, though was not opposed directly in an adversary setting, gives our predecessor Commissioners absolutely no credit at all. I prefer giving them the benefit of the doubt.

The general grant of jurisdictional authority of this Commission is set forth in Section 54-6-2, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, which provides:

"All common motor carriers of property or passengers as defined in this act are hereby declared to be common carriers within the meaning of the public utility laws of the state, and subject to this act and to the laws of this state. . ."

Section 54-6-12, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, carves out certain exemptions from the general regulatory jurisdiction. If there is some vagueness or ambiguity about a possible exemption, I would conclude that application of the general grant of authority is the sounder approach. Apparently, that is what the former Commission did in the Wells Fargo case, which I feel should be consistently applied by subsequent Commissions, there being no substantial reason being put forth as to why the original interpretation given the statute by the Commission was fatally flawed."

Commissioner Rigtrup's construction is fully supported by and consistent with the courts holding in Salt Lake City v. Salt Lake County, supra, that reasonable administrative interpretation should be given substantial weight. See also 73 Am. Jur. 2d Sec. 168 for the proposition that the construction of a statute by the administrative body charged with its execution should be followed unless there are compelling indications that it is wrong. Citing New York State Dept. of Social Services v. Dublino, (US) 37 L. Ed. 2d 688, 93 S. Ct. 2507; Columbia Broadcasting System, Inc. v. Democratic Nat. Committee, (US) 36 L. Ed. 2d 772, 93 S. Ct. 2080.

CONCLUSION

1. The Public Service Commission has the duty to regulate all common carriers. See Section 54-6-2 and 54-6-4, U.C.A., 1953.

2. The exemption contained in 54-6-12(f) is in derogation of that duty and must be strictly construed.

3. Section 54-6-5 U.C.A. 1953, sets forth the exclusive procedure for obtaining a certificate of convenience and necessity.