1980

Wells Fargo Armored Service Corporation v. Public Service Commission of Utah, Milly O. Bernard, Chairman, David R. Irvine, and Kenneth Rigtrup, Commissioners of the Public Service Commission of Utah, and Brinks, Inc : Brief of Respondent Brinks, Inc.

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

Section 54-6-12(f), Utah Code Annotated, exempts certain vehicles from the regulatory provisions of the Motor Vehicle Transportation Act. The Act generally does not apply

[t]o motor vehicles when especially constructed for towing, wrecking, maintenance, or repair purposes, and not otherwise used in transporting goods and merchandise for compensation; or when constructed as armored cars and used for the safe conveyance or delivery of money or other valuables, or when used as hearses, ambulances or licensed taxicabs, operating within a fifteen mile radius of the limits of any city or town; or to motor vehicles used as ambulances or hearses by any person, firm or corporation duly licensed in the state as an embalmer, funeral director, or as a mortuary establishment, provided that use of such motor vehicles as an ambulance shall be incidental to the use of embalming or funeral directing.

Pursuant to Brinks' application and after due consideration, the Public Service Commission ruled that the fifteen-mile limitation set forth in the foregoing provision applied only to "hearses, ambulances or licensed taxicabs" and not to armored cars "used for the safe conveyance or delivery of money or other valuables." Brinks submits that the Commission's ruling was entirely correct, reasonable, and well within the realm of the Commission's permissible discretion. Wells Fargo's opposition to the Commission's determination can only be viewed as an unreasonable fear of the competition newly provided by Brinks in an otherwise monopolistic market.

I. THE COMMISSION CORRECTLY
CONSTRUED THE STATUTORY EXEMPTION

In its Report and Order granting Brinks an exemption from Commission regulation, the Commission noted that an ambiguity existed in the statutory provision. The Commission then relied on the "last antecedent rule" of statutory construction and on reasoned public policy to resolve the ambiguity.

A. RULES OF GRAMMAR AND STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION SUPPORT THE COMMISSION'S DETERMINATION.

The statutory exemption is given in a complex sentence susceptible of grammatical analysis. The sentence may be displayed as follows:

[The Motor Vehicle Transportation Act does not apply to] motor vehicles

when especially constructed for towing, wrecking, maintenance or repair purposes, and not otherwise used in transporting goods and merchandise for compensation; or

when constructed as armored cars and used for the safe conveyance or delivery of money or other valuables, or

when used as hearses, ambulances or licensed taxicabs, operating within a fifteen mile radius of any city or town . . .

(Emphasis added.) The first part of the quoted portion of the statute consists of a subject ("Motor Vehicle Transportation Act"), a verb and adverb ("does not apply"), and a prepositional phrase ("to motor vehicles") which is modified by three adjective

clauses introduced in each case by the relative adverb "when." From a grammatical and logical standpoint, each clause describes a separate and identifiable category of vehicles exempted from regulation by the Act.

As indicated by the foregoing display, however, a fourth clause, the participial phrase "operating within a fifteen mile radius of any city or town," is different in nature and operation from the preceding three. It is a more limited modifier the antecedent of which must be found nearer at hand than the antecedent for the first clauses. Structurally, the antecedent is "hearses, ambulances, or licensed taxicabs." It is grammatically unsound to attempt to carry the fifteen-mile restriction further back in the statutory language.¹ See generally M. SEMMELMEYER & D. BOLANDER, INSTANT ENGLISH HANDBOOK 210-18,

¹The following phraseology would have been closer to expressing such a legislative intent to apply the restriction to armored cars:

To motor vehicles when especially constructed for towing, wrecking, maintenance, or repair purposes, and not otherwise used in transporting goods and merchandise for compensation; or when constructed or used either as armored cars for the safe conveyance of delivery of money or other valuables, or as hearses, ambulances or licensed taxicabs, operating within a fifteen mile radius of the limits of any city or town
.

Here, among other changes, the third "when" is omitted, and the participial phrase "operating within a fifteen mile radius of the limits of any city or town" can at (footnote 1 continued on p. 7)

237-47 (1968). As the Commission noted,

the dependent clause "or when constructed as armored cars and used for the safe conveyance or delivery of money or other valuables", is separated from the next dependent clause by the strong disjunctive "or when". This would strongly suggest that armored cars are in a separate category from "hearses, ambulances, or licensed taxicabs, operating within a fifteen mile radius . . ."

Report and Order of Commission, p. 4.

The Commission's construction is supported by the "last antecedent rule." The rule states that where no contrary intention appears in a statute, relative and qualifying words and phrases refer only to the last antecedent and not to more remote phrases. E.g., Ruthrauff v. Kensinger, 214 Kan. 185, 519 P.2d 661 (1974); Caughey v. Employment Security Department, 81 Wash. 2d 597, 503 P.2d 460 (1972); People v. Baker, 69 Cal. 2d 44, 69 Cal. Rptr. 595, 442 P.2d 675 (1968).

(footnote 1 continued)

least arguably modify the entire preceding adjective clause introduced by the second "when," thereby applying the limitation to armored cars.

Speculation as to what the legislature might have done, however, is of limited use. Indeed, legislative acquiescence, consent, or intent is not to be found in legislative silence. See T.I.M.E., Inc. v. United States, 359 U.S. 464, 3 L. Ed. 2d 952 (1959); Chavez v. Freshpict Foods, Inc., 456 F. 2d 890 (19th Cir. 1972). For this reason, Wells Fargo's discussion of what the Legislature "could have" done to show what the Legislature in fact did, is misleading and incorrect as a matter of law. Brief of Wells Fargo, p. 11-12, quoting dissent from Report and Order of Commission, p. 6.

In Salt Lake City v. Salt Lake County, 568 P.2d 731 (Utah 1977), this Court discussed the last antecedent rule, noting that the rule required that qualifying words and phrases be applied to the immediately preceding words, rather than to more remote ones. The Court did mention that the rule is not absolute; for example, if there are several preceding terms of the same character, the qualifier may modify all of the terms, but only if the natural and sensible meaning of the wording so requires. 568 P.2d at 740-41.

This exception to the last antecedent rule noted by the Court, however, is inapplicable to the instant case. Here, the "terms of the same character" modified by the qualifier "operating within a fifteen mile radius of any city or town" are the "hearses, ambulances or licensed taxicabs." Armored cars are clearly of a different character altogether, both because of their actual function and, as discussed above, because of their grammatical placement in a different category. In addition, as also shown above, the "natural and sensible meaning of the wording" does not require the modification of all the terms by the qualifier; in fact, the natural and sensible meaning of the wording would be perverted by the relation back of the fifteen-mile restriction to armored cars.

B. PUBLIC POLICY AND THE PURPOSE OF THE STATUTE ARE FURTHERED BY THE COMMISSON'S DETERMINATION.

The Commission also analyzed the statutory exemption in terms of its underlying policies. When there is uncertainty as to the meaning and proper application of a statute, it is proper to look both to the purpose for which it was created and to the practical aspects of its operation. Salt Lake City v. Salt Lake County, 568 P.2d 738, 741 (Utah, 1977); State v. Salt Lake City Public Board of Education, 13 Utah 2d 56, 368 P.2d 468, 469 (1962).

Here, the limited exemption of hearses, ambulances, and licensed taxicabs from the Motor Vehicle Transportation Act and Public Service Commission regulation must be based on a set of progressive assumptions: (1) hearses, ambulances, and licensed taxicabs all perform highly visible, important, and personal services to the general public; (2) such services are potentially likely to be carried out in an unsafe or inappropriate manner absent certain standards of performance set by state or local governments; (3) cities and towns may regulate the hearses, ambulances, and taxicabs within their jurisdiction; and (4) because of such city and town regulation, Public Service Commission regulation of hearses, ambulances and licenses taxicabs is unnecessary within a fifteen mile limit of any city or town. Thus, the Public Service Commission may regulate hearses, ambulances, and licensed taxicabs beyond the fifteen-mile limit both because beyond the limit such vehicles are no longer subject

to local regulation and because -- at least in the case of taxicabs -- the vehicles enter competition with carriers already regulated by the Commission.

Armored car services do not fit within the foregoing assumptions. As noted, most of the modes of transportation -- such as hearses, ambulances, and taxicabs -- which are brought within the Public Service Commission jurisdiction by the statute are those which serve the general public. Those modes of transportation, however, are not susceptible to the regulation by the public which they serve. Armored car services are clearly distinguishable in this regard because of the specialized service which they offer. They principally serve financial institutions having sufficient economic power to insist upon safe, efficient, and proper service.

The market which armored cars serve, therefore, may be deemed to more than adequately regulate them. This is the case whether or not their operation is confined to the fifteen-mile limit. With respect to armored cars, then, there is no logical or public policy basis for distinguishing between vehicles operating within a fifteen-mile radius of any city or town and vehicles operating outside such an area. In sum, armored car service is not an area of transportation that needs regulation. The statute, therefore, "should not be extended by construction

beyond the correction of evils sought by it." 73 AM. JUR. 2d
Statutes §157 (1974).

Relying on such reasoning, the Commission noted that the character of the business conducted by applicant is fundamentally different from that operated by the proprietors of hearses, ambulances, or taxicabs. The latter involves transportation of passengers, or human bodies, which likely, in the estimation of surviving relatives, deserve some care and consideration in their transportation. The carriage of money and other valuables involves quite different considerations. Further, as pointed out by Applicant in its memorandum, the potential customers for Applicant's specialized service are financial institutions in a strong bargaining position, vis-à-vis Applicant. The need for regulation by this Commission would, accordingly, appear to be minimal.

Report and Order of Commission, p. 4. This declaration of the Commission relative to the statute's purpose should be given great weight since a "fundamental rule of statutory interpretation" requires a statute to be examined "in accordance with the purpose which was sought to be accomplished." Salt Lake City v. Salt Lake County, 568 P.2d 738, 741 (Utah 1977).

Lastly, in this regard, it is relevant to note that the application of the 15-mile limit has been before this Court on at least one occasion, when the Court quoted the statute as follows:

(f) * * * [wreckers] * * * [armored cars]
* * * hearses, ambulances, or licensed taxicabs,
operating within a fifteen-mile radius of the
limits of any city or town. * * *

Realty Purchasing Co. v. Public Service Commission, 9 Utah 2d 375, 345 P.2d 606, 607-08 (1959) (asterisks, brackets, and emphasis by the Court). Although the case involved only taxicabs, the Court's quotation of the statute in the above manner indicates that in the Court's view armored cars were different in nature from hearses, ambulances, or licensed taxicabs.

C. PRIOR TO THE COMMISSION'S DETERMINATION IN THE INSTANT MATTER, THE CONSTRUCTION OF THE STATUTORY EXEMPTION HAD NEVER BEEN FULLY AND PROPERLY CONSIDERED.

Contrary to the assertion in Wells Fargo's brief, the question of the correct construction of Section 54-6-12(f) with respect to armored cars had never been fully and properly considered prior to the Commission's ruling in the instant matter.

At the outset, it must be noted that the rule of stare decisis, generally followed by courts of law, has no application in the administrative agency context. See Reaveley v. Public Service Commission, 20 Utah 2d 237, 436 P.2d 797, 799-800 (1968), citing 73 C.J.S. Public Administrative Bodies and Procedure § 148 (1951). The rule is not applied for the reason that administrative agencies require great flexibility

in executing their peculiar responsibilities:

Certainly an administrative agency which has a duty to protect the public interest ought not be precluded from improving its collective mind should it find that a prior decision is not now in accordance with its present idea of what the public interest requires.

436 P.2d at 800.

Even if, however, the rule of stare decisis was applicable to the Commission's proceedings, the instant matter is not one in which the rule should - or even could - be employed. The only prior occasion mentioned by Wells Fargo when the Commission even arguably considered the meaning of Section 54-6-12(f) was Wells Fargo's own ex parte application for a certificate of convenience and necessity. But, as the Commission noted, on that occasion, Wells Fargo's application "was unopposed, and there appears nothing in the Report and Order to indicate that the applicability of the exemption was argued by any of the parties." Thus, the instant matter involving Brink's application for a certificate of exemption was, the Commission concluded, "the first time the construction [of the statute] has been argued in an adversary proceeding." Hence, the Commission determined to "examine the question afresh." Report and Order of Commission, p. 3.

Wells Fargo's fear of the competition to be provided by Brinks' services is most evident in this context. For "some

years" Wells Fargo itself operated beyond the 15-mile limit of cities and towns without a certificate of convenience and necessity, thus demonstrating at once its recognition of the ambiguity of the statute and its opinion of how the ambiguity should be resolved. Report and Order of Commission, p. 3. For Wells Fargo now to contest the Commission's order re-creating the conditions under which Wells Fargo operated during prior years is irrational -- unless, of course, one looks for anticompetitive motivations. Given the Commission's Ruling and Order, and the absence of any indication of contrary legislative intent, there is no need to protect a large corporation like Wells Fargo behind the skirts of administrative regulation.

II. THE COMMISSION ACTED WITHIN THE REALM OF ITS EXPERTISE AND DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION

It is an axiom of administrative law that a reviewing court will not substitute its own judgment for the wisdom of an administrative agency where the agency's power is exercised reasonably and within the scope of the agency's lawful authority. Lewis v. Wycoff Co., 18 Utah 2d 255, 420 P.2d 264, 266 (1966). In fact, this Court has noted the presumption that an agency possesses superior knowledge and expertise within the area of the agency's responsibility, and has emphasized its corresponding reluctance to interfere with the agency's exercise of that responsibility. See Utah Power & Light Co. v. Utah State

Tax Commission, 590 P. 2d 332, 335 (Utah 1979); Greyhound Lines, Inc. v. Public Service Commission, 547 P.2d 199, 201 (Utah 1976); Central Bank & Trust Co. v. Brimhall, 28 Utah 2d 14, 497 P.2d 638, 641 (1972). The Court has stated,

It is not our prerogative to pass upon the wisdom of the Commission's decision. It is charged with the responsibility of general supervision and regulation of the common carriers of this state and of seeing that the public receives the most efficient and economical service possible.

Lewis v. Wycoff Co., 18 Utah 2d 255, 420 P.2d 264, 266 (1966). At the very least, the interpretation of a statute by the administrative agency called to administer it is persuasive and entitled to be given weight. See Salt Lake City v. Salt Lake County, 568 P.2d 738, 741-42 (Utah 1977); Salt Lake Transfer Co. v. Barton Truck Line, Inc., 8 Utah 2d 401, 335 P.2d 829 (1959); 73 C.J.S. Public Administrative Bodies and Procedure §69 (1951); 82 C.J.S. Statutes, §359(a) (1953).

The instant matter shows clearly the wisdom of the foregoing policies. The Public Service Commission is charged with the regulation of certain types of motor carriers. The Commission daily must discharge its responsibilities, taking into account the nature of the services involved and the paramount needs of the public. The Commission is most aware of the operations of the

carriers involved in the instant matter. The Commission is best situated to ascertain the optimum manner of effecting the public policy undergirding Section 54-6-12(f).

Certainly, in the instant matter, the Commission interpreted the statute reasonably. Wells Fargo is not entitled to have the Commission's order reversed merely because Wells Fargo can create an alternative interpretation of the statute. Even if an alternative reasonable interpretation exists, Wells Fargo can point to no arbitrary or capricious action on the part of the Commission. Absent such action, as this Court has recently emphasized, the Commission's decisions will not be reversed. Empire Electric Association, Inc. v. Public Service Commission, 604 P.d 930 (Utah 1979), citing Utah Gas Service Co. v. Mountain Fuel Supply Co., 18 Utah 2d 310, 422 P.2d 530 (1967) and Mulcahy v. Public Service Commission, 101 Utah 245, 117 P.2d 298 (1941); Petty v. Utah State Board of Regents, 595 P.2d 1299, 1302 (1979).

Relevant to such considerations is Section 54-7-16, Utah Code Annotated:

The review [by the Supreme Court of a Commission decision] shall not be extended further than to determine whether the commission has regularly pursued its authority, including a determination of whether the order or decision

under review violates any right of the petitioner under the Constitution of the United States or of the state of Utah.

This Court has held that such a review is to determine whether the Commission has acted beyond its jurisdiction or in a "capricious, arbitrary, or wholly unreasonable" manner. Lake Shore Motor Coach Lines, Inc. v. Welling, 9 Utah 2d 114, 339 P.2d 1011 (1959). In the instant matter, the Commission acted well within its jurisdiction and acted in an entirely reasonable manner. The law and public policy of this state will best be served by upholding the Report and Order of the Public Service Commission.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated herein, Brinks respectfully urges this Court to uphold the Report and Order of the Public Service Commission in this matter.